215 Alliance, Community Stabilization Project, and Christine Learned,

                                                Plaintiffs,

v.

Andrew Cuomo, in his official capacity as Secretary of the Department of Housing and Urban Development; the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development; and Oak Grove Towers Associates,

                                                 Defendants.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA
Civil No. 98-64 DWF/AJB

MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO FEDERAL DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff’s original complaint sought declaratory and supplemental relief against HUD based on HUD’s illegal approval of the termination of project-based section 8 subsidy assistance to the Oak Grove Towers project, a 228 unit complex in Minneapolis.   Plaintiffs later moved successfully for permission to supplement the original complaint with claims that HUD had administered the “enhanced” section 8 voucher program at Oak Grove Towers in a manner contrary to the federal authorizing statute and in violation of provisions of the federal Fair Housing Act.   These “enhanced” vouchers were provided in place of the illegally terminated project based section 8 assistance and were intended by Congress to enable the residents of formerly subsidized projects like Oak Grove Towers to elect to remain in their homes in spite of the owners’ conversion of the projects to market rate housing.  However, HUD has refused to follow the plain language of the authorizing statute and the low-income residents of Oak Grove Towers are threatened with rent increases and displacement from their homes in the fall of this year.

Plaintiffs entered into a settlement agreement with the owner that provided limited short-term mitigation of some of the effects of the illegal termination of project-based assistance.  These short-term provisions expire in October of 1999, and at that time residents will face substantial rent increases and displacement from their homes unless the Court grants the relief requested.

Plaintiffs and the federal defendants have brought cross motions for summary judgment.  The federal defendants’ motion is based on the arguments that the claims brought in the original suit are moot and that HUD’s “enhanced” voucher policies challenged by the plaintiffs are mandated by the authorizing statute.  In this Memorandum plaintiffs demonstrate that their original claims are not moot and that it is the plaintiffs,’ rather than the defendants,’ interpretation of the authorizing statute which is required by law.

II. Argument
A. HUD’s Policy Regarding Enhanced Voucher Rent Levels Subsequent to the Initial Rent Increase Are Contrary to Statutory Requirements.

1. HUD’s Policy Regarding Enhanced Voucher Rent Levels Subsequent to the Initial Rent Increase Are Contrary to the plain language of the authorizing statute.

Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in support of their motion for summary judgment demonstrates that the plain language of Pub. L. 104-204 which authorizes “enhanced” vouchers permits any tenant receiving an “enhanced” voucher to elect to remain in her unit and have the rent for the unit “deemed” the applicable payment standard for the vouchers “so long as” the administering public housing agency (in this case the Minneapolis Public Housing Authority (MPHA)) finds the rent “reasonable.”  HUD ignores the tenant’s right to elect to remain in the unit with the unit’s rent deemed to be the payment standard and instead insists that as soon as the owner raises the rent for the second time following prepayment, “the family must decide whether to move to a less expensive unit or pay for the increase in rent out of pocket.”  PIH Notice 98-19, paragraph 11(B).

This position contradicts the plain language of the statute that the tenant is permitted to make this election “so long as” the administering agency finds the rent to be reasonable.   Courts have consistently held, in a variety of contexts, that the term “so long as” denotes the duration of a condition through time.   In News and Observer Pub. Co. v. Poole, 412 S.E. 2nd 7, 16 (N.C. 1992), the Public Records Act provided an exception to the general requirement that records be open to the public for minutes of executive sessions “so long as” public inspection would frustrate the purpose of the executive session.  Holding that the “so long as” exception required consideration of time and content factors, the Court ruled that the records were open to inspection only after the work of the public body in question was complete.   See also, Hagaman v. Board of Education of Woodbridge Tp., 285 A.2d 63, 65 (N.J.App. 1971), (“so long as” denotes duration of time in a real property context); Hodges IRR Co. v. Swan Creek Canal Co., 181 P.2d 217, 220 (“so long as” fixes the duration of a contractual obligation). Thus, the plain meaning of “so long as” here is that any subsequent rent increase found by the MPHA to be reasonable will be deemed the payment standard for purposes of calculating the HUD subsidy.
Further, there is no language in the statute that provides that the “enhanced” feature of the vouchers lasts only until the second rent increase.  The reference to a rent increase within a year of prepayment relied upon by HUD is part of the proviso setting out the condition upon which a tenant is eligible for an enhanced voucher: that the tenant’s rent is increased within a year of prepayment.  This basic eligibility condition in no way implies that this first rent increase, necessary for eligibility, is the only one which enhanced vouchers will address.  If Congress had intended that result, it would have used language similar to that used by HUD in PIH Notice 98-19: “the special FMR and payment standard rules do not apply to any subsequent rent increases.”  The statute contains no such language. 

HUD’s position also contradicts the statutory provision that gives the tenant the right to elect to remain in the unit.  In this case, HUD’s interpretation would have led to substantial rent increases and wide spread rent increases after the first year for Oak Grove Towers enhanced voucher holders had it not been for the settlement agreement with the owner
.   See, Settlement Agreement, Affidavit of Friedrich A.P. Siekert, Exh. D (“Siekert Aff.”).   Such a result is certainly not consistent with the legislative mandate that tenants have a right to elect to remain in their units.

2. Congress has not acquiesced to HUD’s interpretation of the statute.

The federal defendants proffer the 
inference that because Congress has not otherwise amended P.L. 104-204 it has acquiesced in HUD’s interpretation of this statute.  This position is not supported by the facts of this case or by the relevant law. 

In fact, there is no evidence that Congress was or is yet aware of HUD’s policy about enhanced vouchers issued in April 1998.  The only opportunity for Congress to take action related to this policy would have been in connection with the passage of the Veterans’ Affairs and HUD Appropriations Act of 1999, Pub. L. 105-276 in October 1998, barely six months after the publication of HUD’s policy in April of 1998.
  

In those instances where the Court has considered Congressional response to administrative policies to be relevant in statutory construction, (a) the administrative practice or policy has been substantial, consistent and long-term; and, (b) there was significant evidence that Congress was well aware of the administrative practice either because Congress had explicitly ratified the practice through passage of affirming legislation or refusal to pass amendatory legislation. See. Red Lion Broadcasting Co., Inc. et al v.  Federal Communications Commission, 395 U.S. 367 (1969) (30 years of consistent administrative construction);  Zemel v. Rusk, 381 U.S. 1 (1964); U.S. v. Rutherford, 442 U.S. 544 (1979).

Even in the case cited by the federal defendants, Congress had held hearings specifically for the purpose of considering the Federal Communication Commission’s well established administrative policies at issue and had declined to pass proposed amendatory legislation. CBS, Inc. v. Federal Communications Commission, 453 U.S. 367 (1981). 

In October of 1998, six months after their promulgation in a HUD Notice, rather than regulation, Congress neither had nor taken the opportunity to review HUD’s policy about enhanced vouchers.  The warnings of previous courts about the dangers of drawing inferences from such congressional non-action should be heeded:

“To explain the cause of non-action by Congress when Congress itself sheds no light is to venture into speculative unrealities.  Congress may not have had its attention directed to an undesirable decision; and there is no indication that … it had, even by any bill that found its way into a committee pigeonhole.  Congress may not have had its attention so directed for any number of reasons… Various considerations of parliamentary tactics and strategy might be suggested as reasons for the inaction … of Congress, but they would only be sufficient to indicate that we walk on quicksand when we try to find in the absence of corrective legislation a controlling legal principle.”  Helvering v. Hallock, 309 U.S. 106,120-121 (1940)
3. HUD’s interpretation of the authorizing statute violates its duty to affirmatively further fair housing under 42 U.S.C. § 3608.

HUD’s position that its duty to affirmatively further the policies and purposes of the Fair Housing Act pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3608 does not apply to its policy regarding subsequent rent increases is based on its position that this policy is a “strict restatement of the statutory mandate of Public Law 104-204.”  Response to Plaintiffs’ Request for Admissions No. 1, Affidavit of John Cann In Opposition to Federal Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgement, Exh. K (Cann Second Aff.”)  The discussions above and in plaintiffs’ Memorandum in support of their motion for summary judgment clearly demonstrate that HUD’s policy on subsequent rent increases is in no way a “strict restatement” of the statute.  HUD’s policy that “the special…payment standard rules do not apply to any subsequent rent increases” is nowhere to be found in the statute and contradicts the plain and unambiguous requirement that a tenant be permitted to elect to remain in her unit “so long as” the administering agency finds the rent to be reasonable.  

HUD admits that the minimum requirements of 42 U.S.C.  § 3608 have not been met. Response to Requests Nos. 1-9, Cann Aff. Exh. K.   Thus, HUD’s policy of not applying the enhanced features of the vouchers to subsequent rent increases was adopted in violation of its affirmative duty under § 3608 and plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory judgment to that effect. 

B. Plaintiffs’ Claims Relating to HUD’s Illegal Approval of the Owner’s Termination of the Project Based Section 8 Are Not Moot

The federal defendants argue that plaintiffs’ claims regarding the illegal termination of the project based section 8 contracts are moot because a settlement between the plaintiffs and the owner has intervened to create a situation in which plaintiffs no longer have a “legally cognizable interest in the outcome” and in which there is no effective relief to be granted.  Federal Defendants Memorandum at 6. The settlement, attached as Exhibit D to the Siekert Affidavit, provides: 1) that the owner will accept enhanced vouchers as long as they are offered by HUD; 2) one year of no parking charges, ending October 1, 1999; 3) one year without rent increases for enhanced voucher tenants, ending October 1, 1999; and 4) short term parking for health care aides.  These provisions provide only short-term mitigation of some of the injuries flowing from HUD’s violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(c)(9).
The federal defendants’ unwillingness to address the substance of plaintiffs’ claims is understandable.  As demonstrated in plaintiffs’ Memorandum in support of plaintiffs motion for summary judgment, HUD’s conduct in approving the owner’s termination of the project based section 8 contracts at Oak Grove Towers made a mockery of its obligations under 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(c)(9).  Instead of addressing a national low income housing crisis and helping to avoid the displacement of vulnerable low income tenants as Congress intended,
 HUD was complicit in the owner’s circumvention of the clear notice provisions of the statute.  As a direct result 228 units of affordable housing were permanently lost and the low income households remaining at Oak Grove Towers now face rent increases of  $120-$130 per month in October.
   HUD’s absurd interpretation of the notice statute and its insistence on the legality of that interpretation threatens the loss of thousands more housing units over the next several years and displacement of the low-income residents of these units.  See, section B.2. below.  

In the face of these ongoing consequences of HUD’s blatantly illegal actions, its argument that plaintiffs’ claims are moot is ludicrous. These arguments ignore the ongoing injury to Oak Grove Towers residents resulting from HUD’s violation of 42 USC § 1437f(c)(9) and the potential remedies for those violations. These arguments also ignore the ongoing injury and threat of injury to plaintiff organizations and their members and clients created by HUD’s interpretation of 42 USC § 1437f(c)(9) and HUD’s insistence that its actions permitting termination of the Oak Grove Towers section 8 contracts were consistent with the requirements of that statute.

A case is moot only if “it can be said with assurance that ‘there is no reasonable expectation…that the alleged violation will recur’” and intervening events “have completely and irrevocably eradicated the effects of the alleged violation.”  County of L.A. v. Davis, 99 S.Ct. 1379, 1383 (1979); Comer v. Cisneros, 37 F.3d 775, 800 (2nd Cir. 1994); Doe v. Harris, 696 F.2d 109, 111 (D.C. Cir. 1982); American Historical Ass’n v. Peterson, 876 F.Supp. 1300, 1309 (D.D.C. 1995
).  The defendants’ burden of demonstrating mootness is a “heavy one.” County of L.A. v. Davis, 99 S.Ct. at 1383; United States v. W.T. Grant Co., et al, 73 S.Ct. 894, 897 (1953); Comer v. Cisneros, 37 F.3d at 800; Doe v. Harris, 696 F.2d at 112.  Even if a public agency has ceased its allegedly illegal activities, the controversy over the legality of the activities remains and the ability of the agency to return to its illegal activities “together with a public interest in having the legality of the practice settled militates against a mootness conclusion.” United States v. W.T. Grant Co., et al, 73 S.Ct.  at 897.   When the public agency asserts the legality of the challenged conduct, “the complainant may justifiably project repetition, albeit in a different setting and involving different official actors.” Doe v. Harris, 696 F.2d at 113; American Historical Ass’n v. Peterson,  876 F.Supp. at 1309.  Courts have repeatedly held that the defendants’ insistence on the legality of their actions defeats mootness by increasing the likelihood that the plaintiff will be faced with the challenged action in the future.  Id.   As demonstrated below, these basic principles dictate that none of the plaintiffs’ claims against the federal defendants are moot.

1. HUD has not met its heavy burden of demonstrating that events have completely and irrevocably eradicated the effects of HUD’s illegally permitting termination of the section 8 contracts.

The federal Defendants’ assertion that plaintiffs’ settlement with the owner leaves Oak Grove Towers residents in the same position they would have been in had the owner not prepaid its mortgage and accepted an additional section 8 contract extension is nonsense.   If the owner had not prepaid the mortgage and terminated the project based section 8 contracts, residents would not now be threatened with large rent increases in October of this year because the project based section 8 contract would not have been replaced with “enhanced vouchers.” Residents would not have been faced in October of 1997 with the choice of paying an additional $45 per month for parking or giving up their cars and would not be faced with a similar choice in October of this year because the free parking provision of the settlement with the owner was for one year only
.  See, Siekert Aff. Exh. D  Residents would not have faced extreme stress and anxiety for the last two years as a result of the imminent threat of displacement and uncertainty about the future of their homes
.  Declaration of Terry Turja, ¶ 2 & 3 (“Turja Declaration”)

HUD’s illegal approval of the section 8 termination led directly to all of these adverse consequences.  In addition, HUD’s illegal approval of the termination and its complicity in denying them the statutorily required notice deprived the 215 Alliance and the residents of Oak Grove Towers of any opportunity to intervene in a way which would have preserved Oak Grove Towers permanently as affordable housing
.   Declaration of Alan Arthur, ¶ 3 (“Arthur Declaration”)

Plaintiffs’ settlement with the owner hardly provides a remedy for all of these injuries suffered by plaintiffs as a result of HUD’s illegal actions. The settlement agreement mitigated these effects somewhat, but only for the one-year period ending in September of 1999
.  Siekert Aff. Exh. D.   Residents now face imminent large rent increases, re-imposition of parking fees, threat of displacement from their homes, and resulting stress and anxiety
.  Turja Declaration ¶ 2 & 3

Should the Court find that HUD permitted termination of the project based section 8 contracts in violation of 42 USC § 1437f(c)(9), further relief is available pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2202.     A variety of remedies are available and appropriate as such further relief.  Franklin v. Gwinnett County Public Schools, 112 S.Ct. 1028, 1033 (1992), (holding that, “where legal rights have been invaded…federal courts may use any available remedy to make good the wrong done”.)   Plaintiffs intend to seek such further relief, the precise nature of which will depend upon the Court’s resolution of the issue discussed in Part A above, and upon the status of ongoing efforts to restore project based section 8 to the building and preserve it as affordable housing.  Cann Second Aff. ¶ 3     Plaintiff 215 Alliance is currently working with a nonprofit developer to attempt to purchase the Oak Grove Towers building and restore the project based section 8 contracts.  Arthur Declaration ¶ 3 & 4; Declaration of Richard Kahn, ¶ 3 (“Kahn Declaration”) These efforts are supported by HUD staff and there is some grounds for optimism that they may be successful.  Id. If significant progress has been made on these efforts at the time the Court issues a declaratory judgment, supplemental relief would be directed toward facilitating this purchase in order to remedy the loss of the opportunity to preserve the buildings suffered as a direct result of HUD’s circumventing the statutory notice requirement.   The further relief requested in this instance would direct HUD to restore project based assistance at a level reasonably necessary (in terms of rent levels supported and units covered) and on appropriate terms, in order to remedy the wrong and to permit the preservation efforts to proceed.  In addition, relief to further the preservation of the project would be sought ordering HUD’s restoration of the interest rate reduction subsidy lost when the owner prepaid the mortgage, pursuant to Pub. L. 105-65, Section 531, which permits HUD to make such grants to formerly insured subsidized projects.

Should the Court conclude that the provisions of Pub. L. 104-204 do permit HUD to limit subsidy for rent increases subsequent to the first increase, the Court could order, and plaintiffs will move, for further relief to remedy the ongoing effects of HUD’s illegal termination of project based subsidy by ordering HUD to modify its policy with respect to Oak Grove Towers and to recognize rent increases found to be reasonable by the Minneapolis Public Housing Authority to be the payment standard for Oak Grove Towers enhanced voucher holders.  It is clear from the arguments set out in Section A of this Memorandum that HUD’s policy regarding subsequent rent increases is not dictated by the language of Pub. L. 104-204.  Therefore it is HUD policy and subject to change, at least as applied to Oak Grove Towers, in order to “make good the wrong” done by HUD.   This remedy, if necessary, is also supported by two provisions of the 1999 HUD Appropriations Act, Pub. L. 105-276.  Section 545(a)(1)(C) provides a set aside of 5% of HUD’s section 8 budget authority as an “adjustment pool” to “ensure continued affordability” if the Secretary determines such assistance necessary.  Section 545(a)(1)(E) permits the Secretary to order modifications in a voucher payment standard to assure that residents do not pay more than 30% of income for rent.

In any event, plaintiffs’ will also seek an order that HUD adjust the contract for section 8 vouchers to reflect residents’ extra payments for parking so as to remedy one injury suffered as a result of termination of the section 8 contracts.  See Cann Second Aff. ¶ 3   Plaintiffs will seek to make this adjustment retroactive so as to address the economic injury that has already occurred. 

Because HUD has not met its heavy burden of demonstrating that events “have completely and irrevocably eradicated the effects of the alleged violation” the plaintiffs’ claims are not moot.
2.  HUD has not met its heavy burden of demonstrating that there is no reasonable expectation hat the alleged violation will recur; HUD’s insistence that its actions were legal demonstrates the likelihood of recurrence. 

Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in support of their motion for summary judgment demonstrates that HUD ignored the requirements of 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(c)(9) and approved termination of the Oak Grove Towers section 8 contract without HUD having received any notice of termination within the required period, with the only notice to the tenants being a notice of contract renewal which gave no hint of the owner’s intent to refuse to renew the contracts, and with no written reason given by the owner for a refusal to renew the contracts.  HUD’s response to plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment characterizes these violations of the federal notice statute’s basic requirements as insignificant shortcomings.  This refusal to acknowledge the nature and significance of HUD’s statutory violations has been consistent:

“If the owner’s initial reason was the expiration, and HUD received notification, the statutory requirement was met.  If subsequent reasons intervened, the statute does not require the re-issuance of the notice each time a new business reason emerged.”  August 13, 1997 letter from HUD, Cann Second Aff. Exh. C

Thus, HUD insists that a notice of contract extension is sufficient to notify the tenants that the owner will refuse to renew the contract, and the statutory requirement for detailed reasons for the termination are meaningless.  HUD also insists that oral communication of the reasons for the refusal to renew the contract, to HUD but not to the tenants, meet the statutory requirement for detailed written notice of the reasons to both HUD and the tenants: 
.  

“The letter did provide sufficient detail, in that the tenants and HUD were informed that the contract was expiring…What the files do not reflect is the numerous discussions HUD staff had with the owners…” Id.

HUD repeated its assertions of legality in a September 19, 1997 letter to the owner.  Cann Aff. Exh. G   These repeated assertions of the legality of HUD’s actions eviscerate the intended effect of the statute, which is to provide an effective tool for preservation of subsidized housing.

The notice statute was enacted as section 262(a) of the Emergency Low Income Housing Preservation Act of 1987, Pub. L. 100-242.The Act itself contains Congress’ findings that more than 465,000 units of affordable housing were threatened over the next decade as section 8 contracts expired and that:

“the loss of this privately owned and federally assisted housing, which would occur in a period of sharply rising rents on unassisted housing and extremely low production of additional low rent housing would inflict unacceptable harm on current tenants and would precipitate a grave national crisis in the supply of low income housing.” Pub. L. 100-242, Section 202(a)(4).

The notice statute was enacted in light of this threat and with the purpose of preserving affordable housing, minimizing the involuntary displacement of tenants, and continuing the partnership between all levels of government and the private sector in maintaining the supply of affordable housing.  Pub. L. 100-242, Section 202(b).

In the face of a similar low income housing crisis today, HUD’ s perverse misinterpretation of the plain language and obvious purpose of 42 USC § 1437f(c)(9) and its resulting ongoing refusal to conform its actions to the requirements of the statute creates a very real threat that huge numbers of housing units may be lost and their low income residents displaced from their homes, with no more notice than that received by Oak Grove Towers tenants
, and thus with no effective opportunity for anyone to pursue effective alternatives.  

A recent HUD position paper on the national housing crisis for low income households documents that an all-time high number of American families – 12.5 million people in 5.3 million households – face “worst case housing needs.”   In this paper entitled “Waiting in Vain: An Update On America’s Rental Housing Crisis,” http://www/huduser.org/publications/affhsg/waiting/execsum.html, HUD identifies a number of factors contributing to this crisis, including owners refusing to renew subsidy contracts:

“The expiration of project-based subsidies compounds the crisis. Not only is the number of subsidized housing units shrinking, but some of the best quality affordable housing is at risk of being lost or replaced with vouchers which are likely to be used in higher poverty neighborhoods. This trend threatens to worsen an already dire rental crisis and counteract efforts to reduce the isolation of low-income families in high poverty neighborhoods. Thousands of long-term subsidy contracts with owners of Section 8 project-based properties will expire this year, and the owners will be faced with the choice of renewing these contracts or opting out of them to convert to unsubsidized housing and raise the rents to market. These properties are currently subsidized at rents below market. Because HUD does not have the resources to offer these owners competitive market rents, the owners will have a strong financial incentive to leave the project-based Section 8 program to increase their rents. During last year alone, almost 13,000 units were lost to opt-outs from the Section 8 project-based program. 

Too often, opt-outs force residents to move out of their homes and their communities. Current HUD policy is to offer housing vouchers to residents of properties that opt-out. Yet in many cases, vouchers do not pay enough to allow residents to continue living where they are. This can mean moving long distances to find affordable housing or, worse still, finding none at all.”  Id., Sec. 3, p. 2, http://www/huduser.org/publications/affhsg/waiting/sect_iii.html.
Another recent HUD study concentrating on the effects of owners opting out of section 8 contracts states that one million units of project based section 8 housing for low income households is at risk over the next five years from owners’ refusing to renew their contracts
.    Cann Second Aff. Exh. B, “opting in: renewing america’s commitment to affordable housing,” April 1999, Executive Summary, ps. 1, 7.  HUD contends that this situation presents a critical threat to low income households, for whom “worst case housing needs remain at or near the all-time high of 5.3 million households.”  Id., p. 2.   Adding to the critical nature of the threat of loss of one million affordable units in this situation of critical low income housing need, is the fact that project based section 8 units, especially those threatened with loss, are the best of the nation’s low income housing stock.  Id. p. 2.   These units tend to be indistinguishable from market rate units, located in good neighborhoods, and thus provide a vehicle for reducing concentrated poverty.  Id. p. 6.  Owners’ refusals to renew their contracts lead to displacement of the low-income residents as well as permanent loss of the affordable housing.  Id. p. 2.  In 1998, over 17,000 units were lost, three times the number from 1997.  Id. p. 1.  In Minnesota 16,287 units are at risk over the next five years, nearly 50% of the total project based section 8 units in the state.  Id. p. 8.

There are approximately 12,700 project based section 8 units in the metropolitan area, over half located in suburban areas.  Their low-income residents are disproportionately racial minorities, disabled, and elderly.  Declaration of Thomas P. Fulton ¶ 8 (“Fulton Declaration”).    Owners’ refusals to renew the contracts on these units will exacerbate an already critical shortage of low income housing and threaten to undo three decades of progress in providing affordable housing opportunities in racially and economically integrated neighborhoods.  Id. At ¶ 13.  

In part because of the public furor over the Oak Grove Towers situation, there are now state and private funding mechanisms in place to provide incentives for owners to renew their contracts or to finance the purchase of the projects by buyers who will preserve the contracts.   Id.  at ¶ 16.  The State of Minnesota appropriated $10 million for this purpose last year and       $19 million is expected  this year.  Id. at ¶ 15.   Local governments and private housing funders have realized the critical nature of the problem and responded by making preservation of affordable housing a top priority and providing substantial funding for preservation efforts.  Id.  at ¶ 16.   Experience to date has clearly indicated that loss of affordable housing through mortgage prepayment and refusal to renew section 8 contracts can effectively be prevented.  Id.  at ¶ 16.  But the process is complex and nearly always requires a significant amount of time.  Id. at ¶ 16 & 17.  Thus, the one-year notice required by federal statute is absolutely critical to public and private efforts throughout the state to prevent the loss of project based section 8 units.   The interpretation of the federal notice statute followed by HUD in the Oak Grove Towers case threatens all of these state, local, and private preservation efforts.  Id. at ¶ 17; Arthur Declaration ¶ 4 at p. 3.

The interpretation of the federal notice statute adopted by HUD in the Oak Grove Towers case is that routine notices that a section 8 contract will be renewed for one year, which provide no indication at all of an owner’s intention to refuse to renew the section 8 contract, and no indication of the owner’s reasons for doing so, are sufficient to permit the owner to opt out of the section 8 program.   As was the case at Oak Grove Towers, HUD’s position provides tenants and public officials no effective notice at all that the contract will not be renewed and no effective opportunity to mobilize preservation efforts which, with a one year notice would have had a significant probability of success. Id.
Far from being moot, HUD’s decision to permit the termination of the Oak Grove Towers contract puts at risk more than 16,000 housing units in Minnesota over the next five years, threatens the vulnerable low income residents of these units with loss of their homes, and threatens to undo three decades of public and private efforts to provide racially and economically integrated low income housing throughout the metropolitan area.  The relief sought by plaintiffs will remedy HUD’s ongoing refusal to enforce and obey the requirements of the federal notice statute.  It may properly be assumed that the government will acquiesce to a declaratory judgment.  Doe v. U.S. Air Force, 812 F.2d 738, 740 (D.C. Cir. 1987).  If it does not, then further coercive relief will be appropriate pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2202.

Plaintiff Community Stabilization Project (CSP) is a Minnesota nonprofit corporation the mission of which is “to spark low income people, tenants and people of color to organize and take action to preserve and increase the supply of affordable housing in the core communities of St. Paul and Minneapolis”.   Affidavit of Cathleen A. Royce ¶ 1 (“Royce Aff.”)   This mission, and the organization’s low income and minority clients and members are threatened by the potential loss of section 8 housing resources and displacement of low income tenants and therefore by HUD’s disregard for the requirements of  § 1437f(c)(9).  The organization has increasingly had to divert its resources into efforts to address HUD’s refusal to carry out its responsibilities for preservation of affordable housing
.   Royce Aff. ¶ 4 & 5   HUD’s ongoing refusal to enforce the statutory notice requirements likewise threaten to undermine the efforts of plaintiff 215 Alliance to initiate the state’s preservation program and to assist in preservation of other subsidized projects and threatens the loss of affordable housing units which may be resources for the Alliance’s low income members in the future.  See, Turja Declaration ¶7.

Because HUD has clearly not met its very heavy burden of demonstrating that there is no reasonable expectation that the alleged violation will recur, the plaintiffs’ claims are not moot.

C. Plaintiffs’ claim under 12 U.S.C. § 4113 is Moot.

The federal defendants seek summary judgment on plaintiffs’ claim under 12 U.S.C. § 4113.  This claim, set out in paragraph 50 of plaintiffs’ original complaint, was based on plaintiffs’ concern at the time the complaint was brought that enhanced vouchers were only committed for one year, that HUD was not certain it could require the owner to accept enhanced vouchers for more than one year, and that 12 U.S.C. § 4113 provides tenants in projects whose subsidized mortgage has been prepaid with three years guaranteed occupancy.   See paragraphs 32-34 of plaintiffs’ original Complaint.  Plaintiffs’ position is that the “in lieu of” language in Pub. L. 104-204 is conditioned on the actual availability of enhanced vouchers to the effected residents.  If the enhanced vouchers are not actually available for the full three years for which § 4113 would otherwise guarantee residents continued occupancy, then the requirements of  § 4113 should apply for the remainder of the three-year period.   Since filing the complaint, these concerns have been addressed with respect to Oak Grove Towers.   The owner has agreed to accept enhanced vouchers as long as they are available.  See Settlement Agreement, Siekert Aff. Exh. D   Further, the Secretary of HUD has provided assurances that enhanced vouchers will be renewed for Oak Grove Towers residents.  Cann Second Affidavit, Exh. D      For those reasons, plaintiffs believe there is no need for the court to rule on this claim.  Should the court decide to rule, the plain language of Pub. L. 104-204 supports plaintiffs’ interpretation.

III. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set out above, the federal defendants’ motion for summary judgment should be denied in all respects. 

Dated May 7, 1999 




John Cann, Lic. No.  174841


Ann M. Norton, Lic. No. 7987X


570 Asbury Street, Suite 208


St. Paul, MN  55104


651-643-0102





Attorneys for Plaintiffs

� HUD’s assertion that Congress has had two opportunities to clarify its intent with respect to subsequent rent increases is simply wrong.  Pub. L. 105-65 cited by HUD as one of those opportunities was passed Oct. 27, 1997, five months before HUD first announced its policy in PIH Notice 98-19, April 3, 1998.


� See Pub. L. 100-242, Section 202; § 1437f(c)(9) was originally enacted as section 262(a) of Pub. L. 100-242.


� See, Memorandum in Support of Plaintiffs’ Motion of Summary Judgment, p. 6.


� Rather than the year notice required by statute, Oak Grove Towers tenants received notice on June 2, 1997 that the owner would prepay the mortgage on July 30, 1997 and terminate the section 8 contracts on September 30 and October 31, 1997.   The prepayment on July 30, 1997 prevented any effective action to avoid termination of the section 8 contracts.
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